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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (if known) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The Whitcomb cabin stands on a hikl overlooking Glenwood Valley and
majestic Mount Adams, A spring flows near the back door and cattle now
graze in the yard, The surroundings have changed 1little since

1875 except for county road 163 nearby. '

The original 18' by 25' cabin was built of square hewn logs, with a

shake roof, It had two rooms. A small addition on the east side was built
and is not of log, This should be removed, The doors and window glass are
gone now, The inside walls were covered with old newspapers, but these
have been taken out by souvenir hunters. The walls in the larger room
still have wood paneling on the lower half.

The cabin has been empty for 30 to 35 years and is deteriorating, It should
be reroofed and the foundation needs reinforcement., The wood floor has
séveral holes which should be repaired.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE
r?

The cabin belonged to Stephen S, Whitcomb, T}gg Whitcombs settled in
the area in 1875. The Fulda postoffice was first located in this
cabin, from 1877 to 1881, and served 8 or 9 familkes,. Is is one
of very few original buildings still standing in the valley, Many
o f the others were destroyed by fire., Others are in very poor
condition,
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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

17 Type of Building: Gable roofed 1-1/2 story log cabin residence
with a l-story frame construction back addition and porch in southeast
corner side.

2. Building Placement: Sited with its long dimension west-east, front
facing County road 91250 (Glenwood-BZ Corners Road) on the south, and
addition on east end. Isolated location away from other buildings
except for two ruins of small log outbuildings and with no other vis-
ible evidence of farm activities. Fenced from the road and enclosed
within‘a a tempOrary hog wire fence to .bar larger animals, an 1mmed1ate
site measuring 150-feet cquare with' the cabln in the soutneast quarter.

3. ‘General CharaCterlstlcs. ‘Rectangular plan with the main cabin
24-feet long by l6-feet wide, ground floor and finished attic story.

The addition is roughly 12-feet sguare, single story. Floor-ceiling
heights are roughly 8-feet high. Two rooms each floor of main cabin
with a transvéerse partition, a single brick flue on frame supports

on the east back wall, and a l4-riser Ell plan stairway in the northwest
corner. No partitions in back addition.

4. Construction: Heavy timber foundation and sawn joists on hewn
log bolt piers, now badly settled into the grade. Log walls are laid
with horizontal 8-inch round barked logs, dovetail notched corners,
up to the side eave level, approx1mate1v 48-inches above the second
floor level and l12-feet above ‘grade.. The gables are framed with ver-
tical sawn studs with vertical board and batten siding. Stud framing
is used for the back addition with horizontal clapboard 51d1ng The
ground floor of:-the main cabin has log pole joists on, 6 24-inch centers.
Upper floor has 2x8 sawn joists on 24-inch centers. Roofing was cedar
shakes on spaced sheathing on 4-inch pole rafters on 24-inch centers.
Eaves are boxed and finished. Shakes have been removed or weathered
away. A corrugated sheet steel roof was installed on the main cabin
in 1975. There. are no utilities.

5. Special Features: The interior was fully finished and ceiled,
4-inch tongue and groove flooring (on subfloor in main floor), vertical
1x4 edge and center bead tongue and groove dado with cap trim, 1x6

edge and center bead tongue and groove ceiling in main ground floor
rooms, and longitudinal boarding elsewhere. The exterior is weathered
logs and board siding. Log joints were, chinked with mortar and strip-
ping. . Interior paneltng may have been sealed or stalned and varnished,
but no painted finishes remain. Plank walls and ceilings’ have remains
of lining paper and muslin, and newspaper,. with scraps of wallpaper;

a printed pattern of white beading in l-inch squares on gray background,
with traces of blue and rose. The, stairway has a plain dressed 2x4
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE- o ’
1. The Stephen ‘s. Whltcomb Cabin is the last of the ploneer laog cabin
homes remalnlng in the Lake Conboy area and one of the last in Klickitat
County. It is ‘exemplary of permanent log cabin construction technology
and had interior finishes that are unusual for picneer cabins. The
cabin symbollzes the history of the settlement and agricultural de-
velopment of Lake Conboy and its communities and the German heritage
of the settlers. The cabin is the last building of the community of
Fulda, Washington, the name attributed to Mr. Whitcomb and his former
home city in Germany. The house served as the Fulda, Washington, Post
Office while Whitcomb served as Postmaster; he later served as Post-
master in Glenwood, Washington. If preserved and restored, the Whitcomb
Cabin will convey significant information about early living conditions,
pioneer technology, and rural housekeeplng 1n the later 19th and early
20th centuries in this area.

2. Steven S. Whitcomb moved to Camas Prairie -about 1877 and was one
of the earliest settlers in the area.' He attempted to found a town
around his home, namlng it Fulda. He was postmaster of the Fulda Post
Office which was in his cabin from 1877 ‘to 1881, 'later being the Post-
master of Glenwood. As a historic part of the Laﬁe~Conbby area, the
cabin witnessed the growth of agriculture and dairy farming on the
lake bed, the forming of the drainage district and canal building,-
forestry and logging development, and the eventual establishment of
the wildlife refuge. A reported last occupant of the house,

Mr. Andrews, is alive in the area, but unavailable for- an -interview.

3. Whitcomb s cabin is highly representative of early finished log
cabins which exemplify careful log building methods common to European
builders, a sturdy cabin which was carefully finished for permanent
occupancy. The cabin appears to have had a parlor or family living
room and what may have been the master bedroom on the ground floor.

The kitchen-family room would have been in the addition on-the east

end. The upstatrs had two rooms, a private bedroom at the east end

and an open room with the stairway at the west end. Any privy structure
and barns have been lost, with just the two small utility log outbuild-
ing ruins remalnlng. Water presumably came from an outside well or
from the spring. Heating was from stoves on first and second floors
and from the kitchen stove. There is no evidence of electric utilities.
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balustrade around the upper floor opening. Other plain 1x4 & 1x6 dres-
sed casing and trim is used throughout.

6. Windows and Doors: Only frames for double hung sash remain, no
sash or lites. The remains of one door, second floor, indicate that
doors were four cross panel pattern stile and rail type with raised
panels, a stock mill made pattern.

7. Other Elements: The one chimney flue, mentioned above, has been
removed at the roof and is not a significant design element. The flue
is of hard molded salmon colored brick laid in common bond with a firm
lime-sand mortar. It is supported on a 2x4 frame platform without

a foundation. A stovepipe openings are provided at each floor with
one through the walls of the cabin and addition from the back rocom---a
bare metal smoke pipe without fire proofing insulation or shielding.
The side porch is a simple shed roof and in extreme dilapidation.
There are no decorative elements and no other remaining interior or
exterior features or landscaping.

8. Contributing Resources: Two ruins of log construction outbuild-
ings. ' One northwest of cabin, approximately 10-feet square plan, 3-foot

high walls with remains of pole frame gable roof structure. This struc-
ture has small openings in the north and south sides suitable for small
farm animal use but not people. It has some remains of riven cedar

shake lining and mud chinking. The other structure is also approxi-
mately 10-feet square, log construction, with remaining walls 5-feet
high with an opening in the south wall. Both structures are in an ‘
advanced state of rot and ruin and convey little sense of their original
purpose. The second structure is over or adjacent to the small stream
across the site and suggests possible use as a spring house. There

are no other surviving structures of the original farm operations.

9. Condition: The installation of the metal roof has slowed the rate
of deterioration for the main cabin, but the overall state is perilous.
Springs at the site and general Columbia Gorge weather conditions keep
the cabin wet and very subject to wood rot. 1In addition, porcupines
and packrats have severely chewed the cabin’s members and made nests
in its framing. Foundations, floor framing, and bottom wall logs and
framing are severely rotted and settled, producing extreme sagging,
out of plumb walls, and buckled floors and wall paneling. Window,
door, and roof openings allow free entry of rain and snow moisture.
The rear addition has settled away from the main cabin approximately
1-foot and is near collapse. The building’s copndition is hazardous

g
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to unwary persons who may enter it. As sited, it is not under the
surveillance of anyone and is very subject to vandalism. The two out-
buildings might be recorded for information but are not restorable.

10. Site Description: When bought by US Fish & Wildlife Service in
1966 as part of Tract 18j, the property had 800-acres in an irregular
plan. It lies on the south side of Lake Conboy, about 6-miles from
the town of Glenwood, WA., about 60-feet north of the county road.
Chapman Creek and the Camas Prairie drainage ditch lie about 1/2 mile
north. Mount Adams dominates the northwest view from the cabin, over
the lake bed grasses. The immediate grounds of the cabin are fenced
from the road and ‘the cabin is enclosed within a smaller fence to keep
medium and larger animals out. The site is grassed and has mixed large
and small trees and shrubs. There are no apparent signs of garden
development except for the pear tree near the back porch. A small
spring rises southeast of the cabin in a dense clump of bushes and
trees and has been diverted around the east end, reported to have flowed
under the addition floor in the near past, contributing to its rot.
Except for the two ruins of outbuildings, there are no remaining signs
of farm activities, although the cabin was occupied up into the 1950s.
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PROPOSAL TO MOVE THE‘WHITCQMB‘CABiN

This unattended building is at high risk of destruction from vandalism or wildfire,
The remote location of the building beside a rural county road makes security
extremely difficult within the present refuge budget and staffing, The present
location also prevents safe public access since log trucks travel the road at high
speeds while curves limit sight distance and make parking on the road shoulders
hazardous. The Whitcomb Cabin site does not offer adequate space to develop a
parking area without major alterations to the vegetation and setting,

Therefore, the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service proposes to dismantle the Whitcomb Cabin,
relocate it to a site at refuge headquarters, replace or rehabilitate deteriorated
components, and reconstruct it, The architectural integrity of the cabin and the
original qualities of workmanship and fabrication methods would be preserved, and the
cabin would be rehabilitated to its ¢.1910 - 1930 condition.

The refuge headquarters site would provide security from vandalism since the refuge
manager lives at headquarters. The headquarters is located about one mile east of
the Glenwood-Trout Lake county road at the end of the headquarters access road, so any
vandalism would be a deliberate premeditated act with a high risk of being caught.

In addition, the refuge headquarters site offers better fire protection, It is less
likely to be subject to wildfires since it is away from the county road.} The refuge
has a slip-on pumper unit mounted on a pickup truck for fire suppression, and the
domestic water supply is being upgraded to provide better fire protection for the
headquarters buildings. The presence of the refuge manager would provide early
suppression capability through initial attack and the ability to call for assistance,

The refuge headquarters site also would provide good public access and adequate
parking for buses, as well as restrooms and interpretive exhibits.

PROCEDURES TO MOVE THE WHITCOMB CABIN

Dismantling the Whitcomb Cabin, moving it to refuge headquarters, replacing or
rehabilitating components, and reconstructing the building would be under the direction
of a qualified historical architect or historic building restorer, The Project
Director will be responsible for interpreting the "Stephen S, Whitcomb Cabin
Preservation and Restoration Outline Specifications," The Project Director will!
develop a schedule of procedures and methods to be used to carry out the project which
will be reviewed and approved by the U,S, Fish and Wildlife Service, The Whitcomb
Cabin may be totally dismantled, dismantled in sections, kept substantially whole, or
any combination that best facilitates the relocation and rehabilitation of the building
within the available budget. The work would be carried out following the "Outline
Specifications."  Complete documentation of the cabin exterior and interior would be
done by numbering all pieces and plotting the numbers on detailed elevations and plans
or photo drawings.
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The Project Director and the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service would select and stake the
precise location for the Whitcomb Cabin at refuge headquarters, The Service would
prepare the site and construct footings, in accordance with the "Outline Specifications."
The cabin would be reassembled on the new foundation, doing all rehabilitation work as
rebuilding proceeds. Logs would be replaced or repaired as indicated on the "Whitcomb
Cabin Restoration Plan." Replacement logs may be acquired from refuge timber stands,

if appropriate and readily accessible trees or snags are identified by the Project
Director and the Refuge Manager, donated by or purchased from other landowners,

Original materials would be saved and conserved wherever possible, Replacement
materials would match the original as closely as practicable, Original materials
fabrication and installation methods would be used throughout the project to maintain
the original qualities of workmanship. Modern rough cutting and sizing methods would
be acceptable so long as final dressing, fitting and finishing conform to original
workmanship and technology,

The Project Director would record and document the project during progress through
the use of annotated copies of the working drawings and progress photographs,

EVALUATION OF EFFECT OF MOVE ON INTEGRITY OF WHITCOMB CABIN

Moving the Whitcomb Cabin from its original site to refuge headquarters would have an
adverse effect, when evaluated against the criteria of effect contained in 36 CFR 800,3,
by altering its surrounding environment, but this effect would be in the public interest
by retaining and rehabilitating a National Register building, providing the building
with security from fire and vandalism, and making the building accessible for public
appreciation, interpretation and education.

The orientation and views from the building would be changed when it is moved from the
south side to the west side of the Conboy Lake lakebed, It no longer would sit
adjacent to the BZ Corner-Glenwood county road. The pear tree in the yard, the spring
next to the kitchen addition, and the remains of the outbuildings would be missing

from the cabin's surrounding environment at the new location,

Despite its different orientation and principal views on the west shore of Conboy Lake,
the refuge headquarters site contains many features which would make it appropriate as
a site for the relocated cabin: a view of Mount Adams to the north; a view across the
lakebed to the original cabin site, which could be pointed out to visitors to the
relocated cabin; situated at the edge of the forested upland; a nearby spring: the
last piece of native lakebed never touched by a plow: grass and shrub groundcover with
some young pine trees invading the formerly logged site, The two sites are slightly
less than two miles apart across the lakebed and they are in a direct line of sight
with one another.
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The relocation site at refuge headquarters is separated from the headquarters buildings
so no elements that are out of character with the Whitcomb Cabin would be in its
immediate surroundings. The closest developments to the cabin would be a parking area,
restroom and interpretive kiosk, which would be several hundred feet away, The
restroom would be screened to reduce its obtrusiveness, and the kiosk structure would
be designed to be compatible with the surrounding environment, including the Whitcomb
Cabin.

Based on review of old photographs of other Glenwood Valley pioneer homes constructed
and occupied during the same period as the Whitcomb Cabin and published and unpublished
local histories, and on observations of the vegetation surrounding the Whitcomb Cabin
today, it is probable that the vegetative setting has changed substantially over the
life of the house. When the Whitcomb Cabin was construct c. 1876, it was surrounded
by old-growth fir and pine forest, of which the large grand fir tree in the yard is a
remnant. This forest was relatively open, with litter understory beneath the closed
canopy. In about 1895, the first sawmill was constructed in the Camas Prairie area.
It used only the best logs, usually the butt end, to produce rough cut and, later on,
finished lumber. Another mill was built in the valley in the early 1900%'s: it moved
from one homestead to another as the timber was cut, ending up at Laurel in 1915.

In 1918, a large mill was established on Outlet Creek at the east end of Conboy Lake,
As a result, most of the forest in the Glenwood Valley has been selectively or clear-
cut logged at least once since the 1890's and now is in second-growth stands, including
the area around the Whitcomb Cabin,

Meanwhile, cattle and sheep grazing also influenced the vegetative setting of the Camas
Prairie area. As soon as the first settlers arrived, raising beef both for home
consumption and for market became an industry. The first sheep were brought to Camas
Prairie in 1880, and the numbers reached a peak of 45,000 animals in 1907, Intensive
grazing on open range hindered natural reforestation, converted meadows and grasslands
to brushlands, and maintained an unnaturally open setting around the lakebed. Sheep
and cattle numbers gradually were reduced following establishment of controlled grazing
programs on National Forest lands, state lands and the timber holdings of private
logging companies. Elimination of grazing on the refuge in the mid-1970's has allowed
shrub and tree seedlings to become established around the Whitcomb Cabin and has
created a more enclosed, forested setting than probably was there over most of the life
of the house.

Therefore, the presently more open setting of the proposed relocation site at refuge
headquarters probably more accurately reflects the vegetative setting of the Whitcomb
Cabin during the 1910 - 1930 period.
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area in 1985. He did not find any aboriginal materials, but he did observe historical
materials fragments marking the location of at least three former buildings. These
buildings probably were a house, barn, bunkhouse and corral dating from about 1900,

Dr. Keeler concluded that these scattered remains of occupation would not constitute

a National Register quality cultural. resource,

DESCRIPTION OF NEW SETTING

The proposed location of the Whitcomb Cabin at refuge headquarters is on the flat
summit of a rocky knoll with outcrops of basalt. The knoll slopes down on the south
and east to the lakebed. A spring rises at the base of the knoll in a dense clump
of shrubs and the water flows into Cold Springs Ditch and then into Conboy Lake.

The site has open vistas to the south and east across the lakebed. The knoll is
connected on the west side to the pine and fir forested uplands, A shallow gulley
separates the knoll on the north side from the bench on which the refuge headquarters
buildings are situated. Large pine trees separate the headquarters from the
proposed cabin site, and the upper portion of Mount Adams is visible above the forest
north of the headquarters buildings. Grasses dominate the proposed cabin site,
with some shrubs and young pine trees growing on the slopes of the knoll. Several
large stumps attest to former logging.

DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSED BOUNDARY

The proposed boundary of the relocated Whitcomb Cabin is shown as the red line on
the accompanying map entitled "Refuge Headquarters Site Plan" and drawn at a scale
of 100 feet to the inch.

DESCRIPTION OF NEW ORIENTATION

The proposed compass orientation of the Whitcomb Cabin at refuge headquarters would
be turned 180 degrees opposite to its current compass orientation. This change
would keep the side of the cabin now facing the lake and the side of the cabin now
facing the county road in those same relative positions at the new site, The
north elevation of the cabin, which would become the south elevation, would continue
to face the lakebed, while the south elevation of the cabin, which would become

the north elevation, would face the proposed entrance road and visitor parking area,
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4. Steven S. Whitcomb, the Whitcomb Cabin, and its property are noted
in all histories of the Lake Conboy and Camas Prairie area. Available
property records for the place are incomplete, but its ownership from
1902 on until bought for the wildlife refuge is connected with the
several prominent persons. and families in the Glenwood, Lake Conboy,
area: Betsy Wyler Leathers, Keith P. and Marrianne Keller, Charles

F. G. Pattullo and Frank F. and Susan J. Eastman, and John N. and Nancy
Cole, either part owners of the land or occupants of the house after
1902 (from property records). The area has a continuous history of
early grain and hay production from the lakebed area, grazing, and
dairy farming. Later, lumber production was added to the local econo-
my. The area, along with the Columbia River communities of Bingen

and White Salmon, was home to many settlers from Germany. The drier,
1888-ft. elevation, promised relief from some health problems. The
site is on the first bench level above the lakebed, in the edge of

the forested area, and commands a fine view of Mt. Adams across the
expansive lake bed meadow.

5. If not the last log cabin in preservable and restorable condition

in Klickitat County, it is the only one in public ownership and may
become the last one if others are not saved. It is the last of its
kind within the refuge and immediate area associated with the Camas
Prairie communities. Its poor condition would make its preservation
and restoration a major undertaking, several times more expensive than
construction of a new building of similar configuration with new ma-
terials. On its original site, it remains subject to vandalism and
natural damace. If moved, preserved, restored, and adapted either

as an exhibit or other use, it would be a significant object and could
still demonstrate its building typology and history, but removed from
its original site context. Without a new active use, complete resto-
ration and rehabilitation, and adecuate funds for maintenance and oper-
ation, it s preservation could be a stewardship burden possibly leading
to eventual loss. Whether preserved in place, moved for preservation,
or allowed to deteriorate or be razed, the cabin should be recorded
while still remaining substantially intact.

v



Form No. 10-300a
{Rev. 10-74)
UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR
NATIONAL PARK SERVICE

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
INVENTORY -- NOMINATION FORM

DATE ENTERED

Whitcomb Cabin
CONTINUATION SHEET ITEM NUMBER 9 PAGE 2

Keeler, Robert W., PhD. '"Cultural Resources Reconnaissance of the Headquarters Site
at Conboy Lake National Wildlife Refuge, Klickitat County, Washington,"
30 June 1985.

Olson, Gregg A. '"Stephen S. Whitcomb Cabin, Conmboy Lake NWR, Condition Survey and
Preservation/Restoration Recommendations,' 7 November 1986.

Olson, Gregg and Alfred Staehli, ATA, '"Whitcomb Cabin, Conboy Lk. NWR, Restoration
Plan,'" 27 January 1987.
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This form is for use in nominating or requesting determinations for individual properties and districts. See instructions in How to Complete the National Register of
Historic Places Registration Form (National Register Bulletin 16A). Complete each item by marking "x" in the appropriate box or by entering the information requested. If
any item does not apply to the property being documented, enter "N/A" for "not applicable." For functions, architectural classification, materials, and areas of
significance, enter only categories and subcategories from the instructions. Place additional entries and narrative items on continuation sheets (NPS Form 10-900a).

Use a typewriter, word processor, or computer, to complete ail items.

36 CFR 800: 60.8 Revising documents after registration...re-listing after property was moved.

1. Name of Property

historic name for re-listing: The Whitcomb, Stephen S., and John N. Cole Hewn Log House.

The name change is suggested for three reasons. First, the Cole family also owned the house and were a
pioneer family. Second, the building is more accurately described as a house rather than a cabin. And, third,
renaming the building may lessen confusion about the status of the archaeological component (45KL298) at
the original location.

other names/site number: The Whitcomb, Stephen S. Cabin. Site number 45K 298.

2. Location

street & number _100 Wildlife Refuge Road (1 mi. south of the Trout Lake-Glenwood Road, at the Conboy Lake
NWR headquarters. The house is approximately 6 mi. west of Glenwood). not for publication O
city/town Glenwood vicinity ®
state Washington code WA county Klickitat code 039 zip code 98619

3. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act of 1986, as amended, | hereby certify that this O nomination O request
for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the National Register of Historic Places and meets
the progedural and professional requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60. In my opinion, the property O meets O does not meet the National

Signature of certifying official Date

Kevin Kilcullen, FPO, Fish and Wildlife Service

State or Federal agency and bureau

inion, the erty ' meets O does not meet the National Register criteria. ( O See continuation sheet for additional comments.)
W slis/ie

Signature,6f commenting or other official Date

State or Federal agency and bureau




VA

4. National Park Service Certification

I, hereby certify that this property is:

& entered in the National Register
O See continuation sheet.

0O determined eligible for the National Register
O See continuation sheet.

V)
(;%)égﬁature of the Keeper

Date of Action

1975, updated 1986

O dejermined not eligible for the National Register. N An Ja) /)
oved from the National Register. 'z;z/ : -’
other (explin) e Ao 2dV X 12910
hddiﬁon&l T L DAk G dd LBy A~ AW

5. Classification
Ownership of Property Category of Property Number of Resources within Property
(Check as many boxes as apply) (Check only one box) (Do not include previously listed resources in the count.)

O private ® building(s) Contributing Noncontributing

O public-local O district 1

O public-state O site

public-federal O structure

O object
1
Name of related multiple property listing Number of contributing resources previously
(Enter “N/A” if property is not part of a multiple property listing) listed in the National Register
N/A 1
6. Function or Use
Historic Functions Current Functions
(Enter categories from instructions) (Enter categories from instructions)
DOMESTIC / single dwellin Work in progress / other
Interpretive museum

7. Description
Architectural Classification Materials

(Enter categories from instructions)

Vernacular / Hewn Log House

(Enter categories from instructions)

foundation Log bolt / rock capped concrete piers
walls Hewn logs

roof Cedar shakes

other Altered. restored with appropriate

building materials repl

missing or deteriorated elements.

7. NARRATIVE DESCRIPTION

The Whitcomb-Cole Hewn Log House is a late-nineteenth century, 1-1/2 story side gable dwelling
originally sited on the Glenwood-BZ Corners Road. The house was listed on the National Register in
1975, in 1986 the Nomination form was updated (Saul 1975; Staehli 1986). The log house was
deteriorating and efforts to restore the building required relocating it to a secure setting. The house was
documented to HABS standards prior to moving it in September 1987. This narrative provides
documentation of the move, describes the new setting, and details the restoration work completed.
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The following building description is expanded from the original Nomination Form to include details
observed during the move and restoration process.

Exterior

Overall dimensions: The Whitcomb-Cole Hewn Log House is a side-gable, 1-1/2 story residence with a
1-story wood frame kitchen and porch addition. It is built on a rectangular plan with the main volume 25 ft
long by 17 ft wide. The kitchen addition is 12 ft square and the porch is five ft wide, matching the width of
the house. The kitchen and porch add to the rectangular form of the house. The house plan is
maintained in its new location.

The original foundation was simply heavy timber sill logs resting on log bolt piers. The new foundation
consists of poured concrete footings, hidden with a cap of native stone. Floor joists are 18 in. above
grade. An additional 6 x 6 in. beam was placed under the center of the house, oriented east-west, to
accommodate increased weight loads, when the house is opened for public use.

The exterior walls are constructed of hewn logs, while the gable ends are clad with board and batten
siding. The walls are barked logs, hewn to an average thickness of 5 to 6 in. and secured with a half-
dovetail notch. Logs are laid to a height of approximately 48 in. above the second floor level for a
complete wall height of 13 ft. The log joints are chinked and mortared. The roof, originally covered with fir
or tamarack shakes, was covered with replacement hand split cedar shakes. The exterior has a finished
appearance with boxed eaves and gable rake trimmed with 1 x 4 in. boards.

A single brick chimney is documented in a ca. 1910 photograph. The chimney is constructed of hand
molded brick laid in common bond with a firm lime-sand mortar. Additionally, the location of two earlier
stove pipes were documented during restoration. The first stove pipe was in the northeast corner of the
house and the second stove pipe was on the west side of the brick chimney. Evidence of roof fires were
observed on charred portions of the roof framing at the previous stove pipe locations.

Exterior doorways of the residence are center in the north and south walls, directly opposite of each other.
A window on the east wall was converted into a doorway when the kitchen addition was constructed.
There are two exterior exits from the kitchen; one leading to the south-facing porch and the other to the
north. All of the exterior doors had been removed prior to 1975.

Windows are located on all walls except the north side of the house. The front elevation is symetrically
balanced with a window placed on either side of the entrance. Windows on the west wall are on both the
ground and second floors; but are not aligned, nor are they the same size. Originally the east elevation
did not contain any windows. A window was added in the northern portion of the east wall, then after the
kitchen was built a window was added to the southern end of the east wall, facing onto the kitchen porch.
Two small windows flank the chimney flue in the east wall of the second floor. The kitchen addition has
three windows; one on the south wall and two, side by side, on the east wall. Only the frames and sashes
for a few of the windows remained in 1987, when the building was recorded to HABS standards. The
windows recorded for HABS were single pane sash windows.

The kitchen is a side gable addition, utilizing stud framing on three walls, and is covered with horizontal
clapboard siding. The kitchen’s west wall is nailed to 2 x 4 in. studs placed flat against the log wall. The 2
x 4s were whittled slightly with an axe at the base to allow the kitchen wall to be plumb against the log wall
which was leaning. The kitchen flooring was built as a platform with stud framing toe-nailed along the
outside. The porch roof is supported with two boxed columns. The original roofing material was tamarack
shakes.
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Few decorative exterior features or trim are present, nor are decorative elements depicted in historic
photographs of the house. Modest detail trim on the kitchen addition includes 2 in. wide exterior molding.

Interior

The interior is fully finished. Two rooms are located on each floor of the house with 1 x 12 in. plank
transverse partition walls dividing them. The ground floor walls are finished with vertical 1 x 4 in. edge
and center bead, tongue and groove wainscotting with cap trim. Horizontal planking on the upper wall,
above the wainscotting, was covered with muslin, newspaper, and wallpaper. One wallpaper pattern is
printed with white beading in 1 in. squares on a gray background with blue and pink flowers. Evidence for
two layers of wall paper were observed in several rooms. The ceiling on the ground floor is covered with
1 x 6 in. edge and center bead, tongue and groove boards. The two rooms on the second story are
finished differently. The west room has wainscotting with a chair rail (like the first floor), but with 1 x 8 in.
shiplap siding above the wainscotting to the ceiling. The ceiling is covered with 1 x 12 in. planks. The log
walls in the east room are covered with the 1 x 8 in. shiplap from floor to ceiling, and the ceiling is covered
with 1 x 12 in. planks. The kitchen interior is finished with shiplap siding.

The main room on the ground floor had 1 x 4 in. tongue and groove flooring over 1 x 4 in. rough sawn
plank flooring. The tongue and groove flooring was a later improvement to the house, creating a slight
elevation difference with the west room. Flooring in the main room was restored to the original 1 x 4 in.
rough sawn planks. The kitchen addition had 1 x 4 in. tongue and groove over 1 x 10 in. rough sawn
plank subflooring.

A brick chimney supported on a wood frame foundation was constructed on the interior of the east wall of
the log house. The brick chimney was built for a wood stove, as the house never had a fireplace. A
stovepipe extends through the wall to the kitchen addition connecting it with the chimney.

A 14-riser ell-plan stairway is located in the northwest corner of the house. The stairway was constructed
after the house was framed, because the joists were cut-out and a header board installed. At the time
the stairs were installed, or sometime later, the occupants required more headroom clearance and an
additional joist was cut-out. A short header board was then tacked over the new cut. During restoration it
was discovered that the risers were not spaced at equal intervals. The stairway balustrade has plain
dressed 2 x 4 in. uprights with 1 x 4 in. railing around the upper floor opening. The upstairs balustrade is
not carefully constructed. The pieces do not meet at mitered corners, rather, the ends meet at different
sides at either end, and the top rail is not flush across the top.

Three interior doorways on the ground floor serve to separate the two rooms, close off the attic stairway,
and connect the main cabin to the kitchen addition. On the second floor a doorway in the northern third of
the partition wall connects the two rooms. The only door found in the house, was on the second floor, and
is a four panel, stile and rail type. Door hardware, including decorative hinges, were discovered.

PRESERVATION AND RESTORATION PLANS

A study of the building's condition was completed in October 1986 by detailed visual examination, drilling
with a 3/8 in. bit and sampling sections with an increment borer. Moisture meter readings were made
along with the sample probings. “The general condition was surprisingly good, the highly resinous pine
logs were sound and resistant to decay” (Olson and Staehli 1986:3). Only three bottom logs on the south
wall, two on the west wall, one on the east wall, and the sill log and part of a second log on the north wall
had deteriorated beyond repair.
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Specifications and guidelines were developed to ensure sensitive treatment of the building during the
move and its subsequent restoration. The plan provided a concise methodology for guiding the day-to-
day restoration work. The project steps were recorded with black and white photographs, color slides,
and video tape.

The over-arching principal directing the restoration work focused on preserving the original materials,
fabrication, and installation methods, “...to demonstrate the early building technology. Replacement
materials will match the original as closely as practicable. Modern rough cutting and sizing methods are
acceptable so long as all final dressing, fitting, and finishing conforms to original workmanship and
technology” (Staehli and Olson 1987:2). Historic Preservation Specialist, Gregg Olson, monitored the
restoration work and prepared reports in 1987, 1992, and 1994 documenting the progress. Additional
consultation with Olson occurred when the need arose.

MOVING THE LOG HOUSE

Consultation with the Washington State Historic Preservation Office and the National Park Service,
National Register Program, provided guidance for moving the house. The house was moved in as much
of one-piece as structurally possible, including six courses of logs, the second story, and the roof.

Moving the house was a complex process with many steps occurring simultaneously. The following
discussion outlines the primary steps, but does not try to relate each task undertaken. Suffice it to say,
that once the new site was chosen and permits approved, work progressed rapidly. Prior to moving the
window and door frames were marked and then removed. As the windows and doors were removed log
cribbing was installed to support the upper portion of the house. All pieces of the building were marked
with a color code system that designated the room, elevation, and element (Olson 1987b). A six in. steel
plate was slipped through the north side to allow the upper story to be jacked apart, and an |-beam
slipped through to support the main volume. Two |-beams placed on top of the cribbing supported the
house. With the upper portion stabilized, the lower logs were marked with their chinking material
attached, disassembled, and moved to safe storage at the new site (refuge headquarters). It took about a
week for this phase of work to be completed.

On 20 September 1987, local resident Herman Kuhnhausen (90 years old) supplied his house moving
equipment and a new tractor to relocate the Whitcomb-Cole house. Kuhnhausen had designed and built
the apparatus during his career as a house mover. The house was successfully relocated and reset on its
cribbing base. Footings were poured and a rock cap placed on top of the concrete. Replacement logs
were hewn and faced with a broad axe and by October the logs were notched to replicate the deteriorated
lower logs. The logs were installed beginning on 12 October 1987. The cabin was secured with plywood
covering the door ways and plastic coating the windows by 3 November 1987. The cabin wintered in this
condition. A video tape shows the stages of the work completed in 1987.

The kitchen was moved to the new location the following spring, May 1988. The kitchen flooring and
joists were rotted and the building had to be extricated from mud. The porch was deteriorated and
unstable, thus it was removed prior to moving the kitchen. The walls and floor joists were stabilized or
replaced, at refuge headquarters, then the kitchen was installed in its location next to the cabin. Buried |-
beams served as rails for skidding the kitchen into alignment with the house.
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RESTORATION PROCESS

All restoration work has been completed by Kent Olson and Harold Cole. Olson is a master carpenter
especially proficient with traditional woodworking tools and methods. Cole is the refuge manager and
primary collaborator with Olson. Assistance from volunteers, family members, local community groups,
and Youth Conservation Corps crews have contributed to the success of this multi-year project.

Timber to replace the three bottom courses (12 logs) and three other logs were found in a stand of pines
on refuge property. Most of the logging was accomplished using a horse team. The logs were finished
with a broad axe with stroke marks, replicating the original logs appearance.

The house roof was covered with corrugated sheet metal in 1975 as an interim preservation measure.
Cedar shakes were hand split by the Youth Conservation Corps and installed with the help of local
volunteers during the summer of 1992.

Champion International Corporation, Klickitat Operations, donated two old growth ponderosa pine trees
growing on its land, with an estimated stumpage value of $1,500, for use on the Whitcomb-Cole House.

C and H Logging of Glenwood felled the trees and bucked the logs. The Woodruff Mill in Trout Lake,
milled the logs yielding 2,000 board feet of clear pine full dimension 1 x 4 in. lumber and other dimensional
lumber for use throughout the house.

Previous modifications to the windows caused concern during the restoration process. Efforts to
determine the original window configuration included an exhaustive examination of the windows in the
Whitcomb-Cole House and examining other houses in the Glenwood Valley. Through careful study, Kent
Olson, was able to prove that the house originally held four-over-four sash windows, rather than the single
pane sash suggested by more recent alterations. The four-over-four windows had a narrower (1 1/4 in.)
sash, while the single pane windows had a thicker (1 3/8 in.) sash. Olson summarized his findings in a
letter to Gregg Olson (Olson 1991):

All the original sash was 1 1/4 in. thick with no guide rails between the upper and lower sash. All the
windows were changed for the new 1 3/8 in. sash after the trim was painted green. The trim was
painted green after the east window was originally set up for 1 1/4 in. thick sash. The inside trim that
retains the lower sash is made of the same trim that is used throughout the kitchen. Itis painted
green and has been moved on top of green paint (Olson 1991).

Therefore, the windows were changed to the single pane sash after the kitchen addition was built and the
east window facing on to the kitchen porch was added. The log house had apparently begun to lean by
the time this east window was installed. The window socket was 